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General information 

The financial statements cover The Royal Australian Institute of Architects Limited as a consolidated entity consisting of 
The Royal Australian Institute of Architects Limited and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year. The 
financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is The Royal Australian Institute of Architects Limited’s 
functional and presentation currency. 

The Royal Australian Institute of Architects Limited is a not-for-profit unlisted public company limited by guarantee. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on 22 May 2020. The 
directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements. 
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The Directors of The Royal Australian Institute of Architects Limited present their report, together with the financial 
statements, of the consolidated entity, being The Royal Australian Institute of Architects Limited (“the Company”) and its 
controlled entities (“the Group” or “consolidated entity”) for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Directors 

The following persons were Directors of The Royal Australian Institute of Architects Limited during the whole of the financial 
year and up to the date of this report, unless otherwise stated:

Names Qualifications & other appointments Special responsibilities 

Professor H M 

Lochhead  

LFRAIA MPIA AILA 

FAICD Hon AIA 

B Sc (Arch) (Hons) B Arch (Hons) (Sydney) 

MSAUD Columbia University 

Company Directors Course Diploma AICD 

Loeb Fellow, Harvard GSD 

Dean, Faculty of the Built Environment UNSW 

Director, Australian Institute of Architects 

Foundation Limited 

Director, The Anganwandi Project 

President from 14 May 2019 

President Elect from 15 May 2018 to 14 May 

2019 

National Council Elected Director from 21 

March 2013 to 15 May 2018 

Member – Finance, Audit, Investment and 

Risk; and People & Culture Committees from 

14 May 2019 

A L T M Hampson 

FRAIA – appointed as a 

Director 14 May 2019 

BDES, B. Arch (Hons) (UQ) 

Board Member Director, Board of Architects 

Queensland 

Councillor, Queensland Heritage Council 

Official Residences Advisory Committee’ 

Independent Expert Panel for Arts Queensland 

and the Queensland Cultural Centre 

Stuartholme Girls School Design Advisory Panel 

President Elect from 14 May 2019 

C Cousins LFRAIA 

GAICD Hon AIA  

B Arch (RMIT) 

Director, Clare Cousins Architects 

Director, Nightingale 4.0 

Director, Duckett Acquisition Collective Pty Ltd 

Company Directors Course Diploma AICD 

Immediate Past President from 14 May 2019 

President from 15 May 2018 to 14 May 2019

Acting Chief Executive Officer 7 August 2018 

resigned 17 September 2018 

President Elect from 16 May 2017 to 15 May 

2018 

Chair- People and Culture Committee to 15 

May 2018 

Member – Finance, Audit and Risk 

Committee until 14 May 2019 

Member – Investment Committee until 14 

May 2019 

Member – Finance, Audit, Investment and 

Risk Committee from 14 May 2019 

Member - People & Culture Committee 

Member – Digital Transformation Steering 

Group 
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Directors (continued) 

Names Qualifications & other appointments Special responsibilities

V L Bird FRAIA B. Arch (Hons) (RMIT)

Director, Architecture Media Pty Ltd

National Council Elected Director from 15 

May 2018 

Chair, Digital Transformation Steering Group 

P A C Hobbs FRAIA – 

appointed as a Director 

14 May 2019 

B. Arch (UWA)

Director, Petal Nominees (WA) Pty Ltd

National Council Elected Director from 14 

May 2019 

WA Chapter President from 5 February 2019 

A V Broffman FRAIA M Arch (Illinois) 

BA Soc (George Mason) 

MA Soc (Brandeis) 

Principal-Sydney, TheFulcrum.Agency 

Independent Director from 15 May 2018 

Chair – People and Culture Committee 

G M Overell FAICD 

FIPAA 

BA LLB (Monash) 

Grad Dip Fin Mgt (New England) 

Company Directors Course Diploma AICD  

Associate ASCPA 

Independent Chair, Audit Committee of the 

Victorian State Revenue Office 

Chairman, Victorian Opera 

Non-Executive Director, Melbourne Primary 

Care Network 

Co-Chair, Australian British Chamber of 

Commerce Victoria Council 

Independent Director from 26 August 2016 

Chair – Finance, Audit, Investment and Risk 

Committee from 14 May 2019 

Chair – Investment Committee until 14 May 

2019 

Member – Finance, Audit and Risk 

Committee until 14 May 2019 

J R Crawford FCAANZ 

MAICD – appointed as 

a Director 24 October 

2019 

MA (Oxon)  

Director, Blue Mountains World Heritage 

Institute, Australia 

Director, EcoSTEPS Pty Ltd, Australia 

Director, Julian Crawford Pty Ltd, Australia 

Director, Gummarus Pty Ltd, Australia 

Director, Carole Young & Associates Pty Ltd, 

Australia 

Independent Director from 24 October 2019 

Member – Finance, Audit, Investment and 

Risk Committee from 24 October 2019 

R L Kirk LFRAIA Hon AIA 

– retired as a Director

14 May 2019

B Des Studies (QLD) 

B Arch (Hons1) (QLD) 

Director, Richard Kirk Architect 

Director, South Bank Corporation 

Immediate Past President from 15 May 2018 

to 14 May 2019 

Acting National President 7 August 2018 to 

17 September 2018 

President from 16 May 2017 to 15 May 2018

President Elect from 13 May 2016 until 16 

May 2017 

Member – Finance, Audit and Risk; and 

Investment Committees 

J Hill FRAIA MSIA – 

retired as a Director 14 

May 2019 

B. Arch (Hons)

Director, Kerry Hill Architects Pty Ltd

Director, Kerry Hill Architects Pte. Ltd.

Director, Asialink Investments Pte. Ltd.

Director, Theatreworks [Singapore] Ltd.

National Council Elected Director from 15 

May 2018 to 14 May 2019 
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Directors (continued) 

Company Secretary 

Matt McDonald held the role of Company Secretary from September 2017 to 18 January 2019. 

Barry Whitmore has held the role of Company Secretary since 19 January 2019. He has been a member of both Chartered 
Accountants Australia and New Zealand and CPA Australia for more than 30 years and a Graduate member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors since 2009. He previously held the role of Company Secretary of The Australian Psychological 
Society Limited for more than 20 years. 

Principal Activities 

During the year the principal activities of the Group were to operate as the peak provider of membership, professional 
development and policy advocacy services for the Australian architecture profession and through IBL Limited, to act as an 
insurance broker, risk advisor, underwriting agent, claims manager and portfolio manager for Australian architects and 
other professionals. 

The Group also owns 50% of Architecture Media Australia Pty Ltd whose principal activities are publishing and events 
management with a focus on the built environment. 

Core activities 

The Group’s core activities are grouped into six areas that collectively support the Institute’s mission to develop and 
promote a strong architectural profession and be the voice for architecture.  

Professional Leadership 
Education, coordination of specialist groups, gender and diversity, students, mentoring and social justice initiatives. 

Advocacy 
National and Chapter policy solutions, government engagement, research, campaigns and influence. 

Names Qualifications & other appointments Special responsibilities

G M Collins CA 

GAICD – retired as a 

Director 14 May 

2019 

B Econ (Sydney)  

Chartered Accountant  

Company Directors Course Diploma AICD  

Chair, Larrakia Darwin Hotel Pty Ltd 

Non-Executive Director, Hotel Property 

Investments Ltd 

Director, IBL Limited 

Non-Executive Director, Generation Life 

(subsidiary of ASX: GDG) 

Independent Director from 26 October 2016 

to 14 May 2019 

Chair – Finance, Audit  

and Risk Committee until 14 May 2019 

Member- Investment Committee until 14 

May 2019 

Member – Digital Transformation Steering 

Group until 14 May 2019 

A Gillon - director 

from 28 May 2019 to 

24 October 2019

BA BCom (Deakin) 

Certified Financial Planner (Financial Planning 

Association) 

Graduate Diploma of Applied Finance and 

Investment (Securities Institute of Australia) 

Interim Independent Director from 28 May 

2019 until 24 October 2019 

Member – Investment Committee until 14 

May 2019 

Member – Finance, Audit, Investment and 

Risk committee from 14 May 2019 
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Core activities (continued) 

Practice Resources 
Practice Notes relevant to the profession, Environment Design Guide, access to professional business resources including 
HR, legal advisors, standards, contracts, benchmarking and calculators.  

Continuous Learning 
National online and Chapter delivered formal continuing professional development opportunities and the National 
Architecture Conference. 

Networking and Community 
Emerging architects, informal continuing professional development, networks and timely, relevant information delivered to 
members.  

Awards, Recognition and Promotion 
Awards, prizes, individual recognition and promoting the contribution the profession makes to our built environment and 
the community.  

Strategic goals 

The Group’s three-year goals for 2018 to 2020 are: 

 For architecture to be a well-regarded and highly relevant profession;

 To provide strong governance guiding the profession;

 To be a respected advocate with a clear policy agenda;

 To have strong member engagement and loyalty;

 To provide indispensable member services; and

 To be a vibrant, high capacity Institute

Pathways for achieving our three-year goals  

To achieve these three-year goals, the Group has adopted the following four key outcome areas: 

1.0 Respected leadership 
1.1 Promote the value of our profession 
1.2 Support and uphold education standards 
1.3 Lead the profession – facilitate and assist specialised bodies within the profession 
1.4 Champion social and environmental justice in the built environment  

2.0 Advocacy with impact 
2.1 Clear agenda and priorities 
2.2 Research capacity that underpins policy and perception campaigns 
2.3 Advocacy and campaign capacity 
2.4 Strategic political interaction across all three levels of government  

3.0 Direct member value 
3.1 Revitalise practice toolsets to provide relevant and up-to-date resources 
3.2 Revitalise CPD to deliver a relevant best practice curriculum 
3.3 Realign membership structure 

4.0 Strong and viable Institute 
4.1 Positive values-led internal culture 
4.2 Strong brand aligned to our mission 
4.3 Effective communication capacity 
4.4 Modern business performance and measurement 
4.5 Strong governance and alignment with the profession 



THE ROYAL AUSTRALIAN INSTITUTE OF ARCHITECTS LIMITED and CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

ACN: 000 023 012 

For the Year Ended 31 December 2019 

Directors’ Report (continued)

5

Pathways for achieving our three-year goals (continued) 

Additional information regarding the Institute’s 2018-2020 Strategy can be found at www.architecture.com.au/about-
us/institute-strategy 

Meetings of Directors  

The number of meetings of the company’s Board of Directors (‘the Board’) and of each Board committee held during the 
year ended 31 December 2019, and the number of meetings attended by each director were: 

Board Meetings Investment 
Committee 
Meetings 

Finance, Audit & Risk 
Committee 
Meetings 

People and Culture 
Committee Meetings 

Names Attended 
Eligible to 
attend Attended 

Eligible to 
attend Attended 

Eligible to 
attend Attended 

Eligible 
to attend 

V L Bird 8 8 - - - - - - 

A V Broffman 8 8 - - - - 5 5 

G M Collins  3 3 2 2 3 3 - - 

C Cousins 8 8 2 2 10 10 5 5 

J R Crawford 1 2 - - - - - - 

A Gillon 3 3 - - 5 5 - - 

A L T M Hampson 5 5 - - - - - - 

J Hill 3 3 - - - - - - 

P A C Hobbs 5 5 - - - - - - 

R L Kirk  3 3 1 2 2 3 - - 

H M Lochhead  8 8 4 7 4 5

G M Overell 6 8 2 2 9 10 - - 

Eligible to attend: represents the number of Board meetings or meetings of relevant Board committees held during the time the director 
held office or was a member of the relevant committee. 

On 14 May 2019 the Board decided to combine the functions of the Investment Committee and the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee 
into one Committee by establishing the Finance, Audit, Investment and Risk Committee. In the table above, meetings of the Investment 
Committee shown are those held from 1 January 2019 up until the Committee was discontinued. Meetings shown for the Finance, Audit, 
Investment and Risk (FAIR) Committee are the combination of meetings of that Committee from the date it was formed, to 31 December 
2019, as well as meetings of the former Finance, Audit and Risk Committee from 1 January 2019 until the date at which it was 
discontinued. 

Other members of the Board Committees are: 
Throughout the year Andrew Gillon was a member of Investment Committee until that committee was discontinued, 
as set out above, and from that point he was a member of the FAIR Committee. The number of meetings of the 
Committees he was eligible to attend and those that he attended, as shown in the table above, are only those that 
were held whilst he was an Interim Independent Director in the period from 28 May 2019 to 24 October 2019 
inclusive; 
Elisa Clements is an external member of the People and Culture Committee; 
Sarah Richardson is an external member of the People and Culture Committee. 
CEO Julia Cambage commenced, and continues, as a member of all Board Committees from 4 February 2019, the date 
of her appointment as CEO. 

Review of operations 

The profit attributable to members of the consolidated entity for the year, after income tax expense, was $5,849,579 (2018: 
$2,167,813).   
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Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year which will significantly affect future operations 

Coronavirus 
On 20 January 2020, the Chinese Government announced an outbreak of novel coronavirus (COVID-19) in the city of Wuhan 
in Hubei Province. The outbreak was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization on 11 March 2020 and all states 
and territories in Australia declared states of emergency soon after.  

The travel restrictions and restriction on large public non-essential gathering put in place by the Australian Government 
immediately after the declaration of an outbreak impacted the ability of the Company to run events already organised for its 
Members and the planning of future events. 

Financial markets are currently experiencing dramatic negative movements. Financial assets held by the Group may suffer a 
material negative impact depending on the duration of current market conditions. 

Internally the Group is focused on mitigating the potential reduction in income by minimising spend on activities not directly 
aligned with our principal activities. Due to the uncertainty surrounding the extent and duration of the economic impact on 
the broader economy and our key stakeholders including the Company’s Members, how long travel and other restrictions 
will remain in place, the on-going impact on financial markets and the effectiveness of mitigation plans, as at the date of this 
report an accurate estimate of the impact on the 2020 financial results cannot be made. 

Given the level of financial resources that the Company and the Group have, together with continued careful management 
of business risks, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, despite the current uncertain economic outlook. 

There are no other matters that have arisen subsequent to the end of the financial year which will significantly affect the 
future operations of the Company and the Group.  

Contribution in Winding Up 

The Company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a Company limited by guarantee. If the Company is 
wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of $15 each towards meeting any 
outstanding obligations of the entity. At 31 December 2019, the total amount that members of the company are liable to 
contribute if the Company is wound up is $187,200 (2018: $170,190), based on 12,480 members (2018: 11,346). 

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

A copy of the lead auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set 
out immediately after this Report. 

This Report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 298(2) (a) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors: 

Professor H M Lochhead J R Crawford 
President & Director Director 

Dated:  22 May 2020 
Melbourne 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 
 
As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of The Royal Australian Institute of Architects Limited for the 
year ended 31 December 2019, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 
contraventions of: 
 

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 
 

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 

 
 
RSM AUSTRALIA PARTNERS 
 

 
 
R B MIANO 
Partner 
 
 
Dated: 22 May 2020 
Melbourne, Victoria 
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In the opinion of the Directors of The Royal Australian Institute of Architects Limited (the Company): 

(a) the financial statements and notes of the Group, comprising the Company and its controlled entities for the year
ended 31 December 2019, set out on pages 9 to 44, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2019 and of
their performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) Reduced
Disclosure Requirements and the Corporations Regulations 2001;

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and Group will be able to pay their debts as and when
they become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors, made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 
2001.

On behalf of the Board of Directors: 

Professor H M Lochhead 
President & Director 

J R Crawford 
Director 

Dated:   22 May 2020 
Melbourne VIC 
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2019 2018 2019 2018

Notes $ $ $ $

Revenue 4(a) 26,368,879 25,586,821 14,557,061 16,146,411

Share of net (loss)/gain of associates (after 

dividend income) accounted for using the equity 

method 

13 (144,640) (371,675) - (1)

Employee benefits expense (13,442,314) (13,053,465) (7,920,916) (7,643,577)

Occupancy expenses (821,925) (1,115,042) (614,185) (787,040)

Marketing expenses (16,804) (7,180) (16,804) (7,180)

Administration expenses (2,030,797) (2,244,232) (1,224,289) (1,616,255)

Operations expenses (4,375,344) (5,294,877) (4,300,881) (5,193,311)

Depreciation and amortisation 5 (1,021,357) (799,612) (764,034) (677,723)

Interest expense 5 (170,079) (159,952) (275,312) (279,952)

Net gain/(loss) on financial assets measured at 

fair value through profit and loss
4(b) 2,235,307 (158,389) - -

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of investment 

property
4(b) 900,000 - - -

Profit/(loss) before income tax 7,480,926 2,382,397 (559,360) (58,628)

Income tax (expense) / benefit 6 (1,631,347) (214,584) 740,109 848,278

Profit/(loss) after income tax expense for 

the year attributable to the members of 

The Royal Australian Institute of Architects 

Limited

5,849,579 2,167,813 180,749 789,650

Other comprehensive income

Items that will be reclassified subsequently 

to profit or loss:
- - - -

Items that will not be reclassified 

subsequently to profit or loss:

Revaluation of land and buildings (net of tax) 4,538,374 - 4,538,374 -

Revaluation of land and buildings  (effect of 

changes in tax rate)
- 113,445 - 113,445

Movements in fair value of financial assets 1,542 - 1,542 -

Other comprehensive income for the year, 

net of income tax
4,539,916 113,445 4,539,916 113,445

Total comprehensive income for the year 

attributable to the members of The Royal  

Australian Institute of Architects Limited

10,389,495 2,281,258 4,720,665 903,095

Consolidated Parent

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
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2019
2018 

Restated
2019 2018

Notes $ $ $ $

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8 19,186,068 20,586,831 2,041,466 3,858,307

Trade and other receivables 9 737,813 641,228 2,237,270 1,803,245

Inventories - 10,273 - 10,273

Other assets 10 851,044 618,310 558,961 422,926

Other financial assets 11 2,500,000 - 2,500,000 -

Non-current asset held for sale 12 3,150,000 - 3,150,000 -

Total current assets 26,424,925 21,856,642 10,487,697 6,094,751

Non-Current Assets

Investments in associate accounted for using the 

equity method
13 665,067 809,707 - -

Property, plant and equipment 14 31,932,179 30,380,791 29,293,390 27,655,998

Right-of-use assets 15 1,828,440 - 1,586,208 -

Investment property 16 3,700,000 2,800,000 - -

Intangible assets 17 641,212 303,668 637,762 288,898

Deferred tax assets 18 597,901 809,204 247,138 396,777

Other financial assets 11 7,251,299 4,247,911 336,709 335,167

Total non-current assets 46,616,098 39,351,281 32,101,207 28,676,840

TOTAL ASSETS 73,041,023 61,207,923 42,588,904 34,771,591

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 19 4,904,401 8,248,798 448,597 1,308,322

Contract liabilities 20 1,082,384 - 1,082,384 -

Lease liabilities 21 - 52,859 -

Loans and borrowings 24 - 8,400,000 3,000,000

Provisions 22 1,720,602 421,168 572,350

Current tax liabilities - 572,742 -

Other liabilities 23

182,009  
5,400,000

1,500,241     
572,742 

1,987,554 2,059,170 - -

Total current liabilities 15,629,331 12,028,570 10,977,750 4,880,672

Non-Current L iabilities

Lease liabilities 21 1,958,854 - 1,820,310 -

Loans and borrowings 24 - 5,400,000 - 5,400,000

Deferred tax liabilities 18 3,472,942 1,940,120 2,128,814 1,247,883

Provisions 22 342,546 225,414 95,003 33,724

Total non-current liabilities 5,774,342 7,565,534 4,044,127 6,681,607

TOTAL LIABILITIES 21,403,673 19,594,104 15,021,877 11,562,279

NET ASSETS 51,637,350 41,613,819 27,567,027 23,209,312

EQUITY

Reserves 25 16,768,215 12,228,299 15,737,683 11,197,767

Retained earnings 34,869,135 29,385,520 11,829,344 12,011,545

TOTAL EQUITY 51,637,350 41,613,819 27,567,027 23,209,312

Consolidated Parent

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
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Reta ined 

Earnings

General 

Reserves

Financia l 

Assets Reserve

Asset  

Reva luat ion 

Reserve

Tota l

Notes $ $ $ $ $

Balance at  1 January 2018      26,425,983           508,639           794,791      11,603,148      39,332,561 

Net reversal of revaluation of financial assets on adoption of AASB 9                 791,724                             -                  (791,724)                             -                               -   

Adjusted Opening Ba lance at  1 January 2018      27,217,707           508,639               3,067      11,603,148      39,332,561 

Profit after income tax expense for the year              2,167,813                             -                               -                               -                2,167,813 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

  -   Revaluation of land and buildings  (effect of changes in tax rate)                             -                               -                               -                   113,445                 113,445 

Tota l comprehensive income for  the year              2,167,813                             -                               -                   113,445              2,281,258 

Balance at  31 December 2018      29,385,520           508,639               3,067      11,716,593      41,613,819 

Balance at  1 January 2019      29,385,520           508,639               3,067      11,716,593      41,613,819 

Impact of adoption of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 2                (232,389)                             -                               -                               -                  (232,389)

Impact of adoption of AASB 16 2                (133,575)                             -                               -                               -                  (133,575)

Adjusted Opening Ba lance at  1 January 2019      29,019,556           508,639               3,067      11,716,593      41,247,855 

Profit after income tax expense for the year              5,849,579                             -                               -                               -                5,849,579 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

  -   Revaluation of land and buildings, net of tax                             -                               -                               -                4,538,374              4,538,374 

  -   Movements in fair value of financial assets                             -                               -                        1,542                             -                        1,542 

Tota l comprehensive income for  the year              5,849,579                             -                        1,542              4,538,374            10,389,495 

Balance at  31 December 2019      34,869,135           508,639               4,609      16,254,967      51,637,350 

Consolidated

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
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Reta ined 

Earnings

Financia l 

Assets Reserve

Asset  

Reva luat ion 

Reserve

Total

Notes $ $ $ $

Ba lance at  1 January 2018      11,221,895               3,067      11,081,255      22,306,217 

Profit after income tax expense for the year                 789,650                             -                               -   789,650

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

  -   Revaluation of land and buildings  (effect of changes in tax rate)                             -                               -                   113,445 113,445

Total comprehensive income for the year                 789,650                             -                   113,445                 903,095 

Ba lance at  31 December 2018      12,011,545               3,067      11,194,700 23,209,312

Ba lance at  1 January 2019      12,011,545               3,067      11,194,700      23,209,312 

Impact of adoption of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 2                (232,389)                             -                               -   (232,389)

Impact of adoption of AASB 16 2                (130,561)                             -                               -   (130,561)

Ba lance at  1 January 2019 - restated      11,648,595               3,067      11,194,700      22,846,362 

Profit after income tax expense for the year                 180,749                             -                               -   180,749

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax -

  -   Revaluation of land and buildings, net of tax                             -                               -                4,538,374 4,538,374

  -   Movements in fair value of financial assets                             -                        1,542                             -   1,542

Total comprehensive income for the year                 180,749                      1,542              4,538,374              4,720,665 

Ba lance at  31 December 2019      11,829,344               4,609      15,733,074      27,567,027 

Parent

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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2019 2018 2019 2018

Note $ $ $ $

Cash flows from operating activities:

Receipts from customers and members 

(inclusive of GST)       28,445,447       27,576,239        14,886,803       15,135,028 

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive 

of GST)          (26,710,593) (24,751,522)         (16,372,858)       (16,834,635) 
Interest received            224,653            227,122               22,976               37,514 

Interest paid           (170,340)           (159,952)           (275,312)           (279,952)

Dividend received            330,814         1,270,826          1,500,201         2,481,190 

Cash received from subsidiary for income tax 

contribution                        -                          -          1,340,417         1,242,669 

Income tax paid                        -            (161,633)                        -                          - 

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating 

activities         2,119,981         4,001,080          1,102,227         1,781,814 

Cash flows from investing activities:

Payments for property, plant and equipment 14             (85,768) (163,379)             (55,067)           (158,768)

Payment for intangible assets 17           (317,111) (288,898)           (317,111)           (288,898)

Payments for other financial assets        (2,949,415)                         -        (2,500,000)                       -   

Proceeds from sale of investments                        -             539,565                        -                        -   

Net cash (outflows) / inflows from 

investing activities (3,352,294)               87,288 (2,872,178) (447,666) 

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of lease liabilities           (168,450)                         -             (46,890)                       -   

Net cash (outflows) / inflows from 

financing activities           (168,450)                       -               (46,890)                       -   

Net increase /  (decrease) in cash and 

cash equivalent held            (1,400,763)         4,088,368            (1,816,841)         1,334,148 

Cash at beginning of financial year       20,586,831       16,498,463          3,858,307         2,524,159 
Cash and cash equivalent at end of 

financial year 8       19,186,068       20,586,831          2,041,466         3,858,307 

Consolidated Parent

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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1. General Information 

The Royal Australian Institute of Architects Limited (“the Company”) is a not-for-profit public (“NFP”) company limited by 
guarantee and is domiciled in Australia. The registered office of the Company is 41 Exhibition Street Melbourne Victoria 3000. 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 31 December 2019 comprise the 
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group” and individually as “Group Entities”) and the Group's 
interest in associates.  During the year the principal activities of the Company were to operate as the peak provider of 
membership, professional development and policy advocacy services for the Australian architecture profession and for IBL 
Limited (100% owned subsidiary), to act as an insurance broker, risk advisor, underwriting agent, claims manager and 
portfolio manager for Australian architects and other professionals. 

The financial statements include separate financial statements of The Royal Australian Institute of Architects Limited and 
consolidated financial statements of the Group. For the purposes of preparing the financial statements, the Company is a 
not-for-profit entity. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 22 May 2020. The directors have the power to amend 
and reissue the financial statements.  

2. Adoption of New and Revised Accounting Standards and Interpretations 

The Group has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 

Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted. 

The adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations did not have any significant impact on the financial 
performance or position of the Group. 

The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are most relevant to the consolidated entity: 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

The Group has adopted AASB 15 from 1 January 2019. The standard provides a single comprehensive model for revenue 
recognition. The core principle of the standard is that an entity shall recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised 
goods or services to customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods or services. The standard introduced a new contract-based revenue recognition model with a 
measurement approach that is based on an allocation of the transaction price. This is described further in the accounting 
policies below. Contracts with customers are presented in an entity's statement of financial position as a contract liability, a 
contract asset, or a receivable, depending on the relationship between the entity's performance and the customer's payment.  

AASB 1058 Income for Not-for-Profit (“NFP”) Entities  

The Group has adopted AASB 1058 from 1 January 2019. The standard replaces all the income recognition requirements 
relating to private sector NFP entities, and majority of income recognition requirements relating to public sector NFP entities, 
previously in AASB 1004 Contributions. The timing of income recognition depends on whether such a transaction gives rise 
to a liability or other performance obligation (a promise to transfer a good or service), or a contribution by owners, related 
to an asset (such as cash or another asset) received by an entity. 

AASB 1058 applies when a NFP entity entered into other transactions where the consideration to acquire an asset is 
significantly less than the fair value of the asset principally to enable the entity to further its objectives. In the latter case, the 
entity recognises and measures the asset at fair value in accordance with the application Australian Accounting Standard. 
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2. Adoption of New and Revised Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued) 

AASB 1058 Income for Not-for-Profit Entities (continued) 

Upon initial recognition of the asset, this Standard requires the entity to consider whether any other financial statement 
elements (called ‘related amounts’) should be recognised in accordance with the applicable Accounting Standard, such as: 

a) Contributions from owners; 

b) Revenue, or a contract liability arising from a contract with a customer; 

c) A lease liability; 

d) A financial instrument; or  

e) A provision. 

If the transaction is a transfer of a financial asset to enable an entity to acquire or construct a recognisable non-financial asset 
to be controlled by the entity (i.e. an in-substance acquisition of a non-financial asset), the entity recognises a liability for the 
excess of the fair value of the transfer over any related amounts recognised. The entity recognises income as it satisfies its 
obligation under the transfer similarly to income recognition in relation to performance obligations under AASB 15.  If the 
transaction does not enable an entity to acquire or construct a recognisable non-financial asset to be controlled by the entity, 
then any excess of the initial carrying amount of the recognised asset over the related amounts is recognised as income. 

AASB 16 Leases 

The Group has adopted AASB 16 from 1 January 2019. The standard replaces AASB 117 ‘Leases’ and for lessees eliminates 
the classification of operating leases and finance leases. Except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets, right-of-
use assets and corresponding lease liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position. Straight-line operating 
lease expense recognition is replaced with a depreciation charge for the right-of-use assets (included in operating costs) and 
an interest expense on the recognised lease liabilities (included in finance costs). In the earlier periods of the lease, the 
expenses associated with the lease under AASB 16 will be higher when compared to lease expenses under AASB 117. 
However, EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation) results improve as the operating expense is 
now replaced by interest expense and depreciation in profit or loss. For classification within the statement of cash flows, the 
interest portion is disclosed in operating activities and the principal portion of the lease payments are separately disclosed 
in financing activities.  

Impact of adoption

AASB 15, AASB 1058 and AASB 16 were adopted using the modified retrospective approach and as such the comparatives 
have not been restated.  

The impact of adoption of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 on Group opening retained earnings as at 1 January 2019 was as follows: 

31 December 2018 
reported

Difference
1 January 2019 

restated
$ $ $ 

Trade and other payables  10,025,703 (426,027) 9,599,676
Contract liabilities  - 658,416 658,416
Retained earnings 29,385,520 (232,389) 29,153,131
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2. Adoption of New and Revised Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued) 

Impact of adoption (continued) 

The impact of adoption of AASB 16 on Group opening retained earnings as at 1 January 2019 was as follows: 

1 January 
2019 

$ 
Operating lease commitments as at 1 January 2019 (AASB 117) 1,472,593 
Operating lease commitments discounted based on the weighted average incremental borrowing 
rate of 4%-4.5% (AASB 16) 

2,198,464 

Short-term leases not recognised as a right-of-use asset (AASB 16) (1,100,383) 
Low-value assets leases not recognised as a right-of-use asset (AASB 16) (93,098) 
Accumulated depreciation as at 1 January 2019 (AASB 16) (407,921) 

Right-of-use asset (AASB 16) 2,069,655 

Lease liabilities – current (AASB 16) 
Lease liabilities – non-current (AASB 16) 
Make good provision  
Trade and other payables 
Tax effect on the above adjustments 

(180,631)  
(2,104,453) 

(24,722) 
83,118 
23,458 

Reduction in opening retained profits as at 1 January 2019 133,575 

3. Significant Accounting Policies 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

Basis of Preparation 

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards Reduced Disclosure Requirements and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (“AASB”) and the Corporations Act 2001.  

Historical cost convention  
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following which are 
measured at fair value: 

 Investment properties have been measured at fair value 

 Land and buildings used by the Group have been measured at fair value 

 Financial instruments where movements in fair value are accounted for as profits or losses are measured at fair value 

The methods used to measure fair value are discussed further at Note 3(o).  

Use of Estimates and Judgements 

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management 
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree 
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are as 
detailed below.  

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Use of Estimates and Judgements (continued) 

Key estimates - Profit share on insurance policies and contingent assets 

Under agreements with its underwriters, IBL Limited is entitled to receive commission based on the ultimate profitability of 
the portfolio of insurance policies which it manages. The profitability is contingent upon the value of future claims under 
those policies. IBL Limited may receive an interim profit commission two years after the close of an underwriting year. Based 
on external actuarial assessment, the Directors of IBL Limited have determined that profit commission revenue should only 
be recognised after an acceptable probability of sufficiency has been satisfied, and that the final profit commission 
calculations will be performed five years after the close of an underwriting year. 

In the current year, $1,987,554 has been recognised by IBL Limited as deferred profit commission, representing $1,088,208 
received in respect of the 2012/2013 year of account, $651,343 for 2013/2014, $55,281 for 2014/2015, $58,020 for 
2015/2016 and finally $134,702 received in respect of the 2016/2017 year of account. The deferral of this commission 
reflects IBL Limited’s assessment that the probability of sufficiency threshold has not been met.  Contingent assets are also 
recognised per Note 28 in relation to these matters where IBL Limited has not yet satisfied itself that an asset can be 
recognised as at the date of these consolidated financial statements. 

The Directors of the Company have also given consideration to this policy and the basis of estimation and identification of 
contingent assets in connection with the preparation of these consolidated financial statements and have noted that, while 
this approach is arguably conservative, it appears to be compatible with the “constraint” provisions of AASB 15 “Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers.” 

Lease term 

The lease term is a significant component in the measurement of both the right-of-use asset and lease liability. Judgement is 
exercised in determining whether there is reasonable certainty that an option to extend the lease or purchase the underlying 
asset will be exercised, or an option to terminate the lease will not be exercised, when ascertaining the periods to be included 
in the lease term. In determining the lease term, all facts and circumstances that create an economical incentive to exercise 
an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option, are considered at the lease commencement date. Factors 
considered may include the importance of the asset to the company's operations; comparison of terms and conditions to 
prevailing market rates; incurrence of significant penalties; existence of significant leasehold improvements; and the costs 
and disruption to replace the asset. The company reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, 
or not exercise a termination option, if there is a significant event or significant change in circumstances. 

Incremental borrowing rate 

Where the interest rate implicit in a lease cannot be readily determined, an incremental borrowing rate is estimated to 
discount future lease payments to measure the present value of the lease liability at the lease commencement date. Such a 
rate is based on what the company estimates it would have to pay a third party to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an 
asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset, with similar terms, security and economic environment. 

Lease make good provision 

A provision has been made for the present value of anticipated costs for future restoration of leased premises. The provision 
includes future cost estimates associated with closure of the premises. The calculation of this provision requires assumptions 
such as application of closure dates and cost estimates. The provision recognised for each site is periodically reviewed and 
updated based on the facts and circumstances available at the time. Changes to the estimated future costs for sites are 
recognised in the statement of financial position by adjusting the asset and the provision. Reductions in the provision that 
exceed the carrying amount of the asset will be recognised in profit or loss. 



THE ROYAL AUSTRALIAN INSTITUTE OF ARCHITECTS LIMITED and CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

ACN: 000 023 012 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019

18

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Basis of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and Group. Control is achieved 
when the Company: 

 has power over the investee 

 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and 

 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 

The Company reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or 
more of the three elements of control listed above. When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an 
investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the 
relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing 
whether the Company's voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including: 

 the size of the Company's holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders 

 potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties 

 rights arising from other contractual arrangements, and 

 any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability to direct 
the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders' 
meetings. 

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company 
loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income from the date the Company gains 
control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line 
with the Group's accounting policies. All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries 
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are 
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which 
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in 
equity and attributed to members of the Company. 

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference 
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) 
the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling 
interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for 
as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or 
transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable AASBs). The fair value of any investment 
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for 
subsequent accounting under AASB 139 and, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Basis of Consolidation (continued)  

Associates 

An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in 
a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee 
but is not control or joint control over those policies. The results of associates are incorporated in these financial statements 
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Company’s share of the profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income of the associate. When the Company’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the Company’s 
interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Company’s net 
investment in the associate), the Company discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are 
recognised only to the extent that the Company has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf 
of the associate. 

(a) Comparatives 

When required by Australian Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial year. 

Where the Group has retrospectively applied an accounting policy, made a retrospective restatement or reclassified items in 
its financial statements, an additional Statement of Financial Position as at the beginning of the earliest comparative period 
will be disclosed. 

As part of a project undertaken by IBL in relation to the re-assessment of the adoption of AASB 15 and AASB 9, including a 
comparison to global practices, the Group has determined that it should no longer recognise a receivable in relation to the 
insurance premiums owed by policy holders upon entering into a policy. This is in recognition of the role of the Group’s 
insurance intermediaries and the fact that they are not liable as principals for the insurance premiums. Similarly, the Group 
will not recognise a liability for insurance premiums payable to the insurer until cash is received from the policy holder. 
Amounts have been restated to ensure comparability between reporting periods.  

The following table summarises the impact of the change to the Group consolidated position as at 31 December 2019: 

31 December 2018 reported Prior year restatement 31 December 2018 restated 

Trade and other receivables 2,418,133 (1,776,905) 641,228 

Total current assets 23,583,064 (1,776,905) 21,806,159 

Total Assets 62,984,828 (1,776,905) 61,207,923 

Trade and other payables 10,025,703 (1,776,905) 8,248,798 

Total current liabilities 13,805,475 (1,776,905) 12,028,570 

Total Liabilities 21,371,009 (1,776,905) 19,594,104 

There was no impact of the Group’s Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.  

(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly 
liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash (such as term deposits with original maturities 
under 3 months) and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and bank overdrafts.  
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(c) Trade and other receivables  

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 
30 days. 

The Group has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on days overdue. 

Other receivables are recognised at amortised costs, less any allowance for expected credit losses.  

(d)  Property, Plant and Equipment 

(i) Recognition and measurement 

Land and buildings are shown at fair value, based on periodic, but at least triennial, valuations by external independent 
valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated 
against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. All other 
property, plant and equipment assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.  

(ii) Subsequent costs 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it 
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

(iii) Revaluation 

Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to revaluation reserves in 
shareholders' equity. To the extent that the increase reverses a decrease previously recognised in the Consolidated 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, the increase is first recognised in profit and loss. Decreases 
that reverse previous increases of the same asset class are first charged against revaluation reserves directly in equity to the 
extent of the remaining reserve attributable to the asset class; all other decreases are charged to the Consolidated Statement 
of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. 

(iv) Depreciation 

Land, including leasehold land, is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method 
to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and equipment over their expected useful lives as follows: 

 Freehold buildings  40 - 50 years  

 Leasehold buildings  50 years       

 Plant, equipment, furniture and fittings 3 - 15 years  

The residual values, useful lives, and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to the 
company. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount 
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note 3(i)). 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(d)  Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in the 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. When revalued assets are sold, it is the Group’s 
policy to transfer the amounts included in the asset revaluation reserve in respect of those assets to retained earnings. 

(e) Right-of-use assets 

A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs incurred, and, except where included in the 
cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for dismantling and removing the underlying asset, and 
restoring the site or asset. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful life 
of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the Group expects to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the 
lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment or adjusted for 
any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 

The Group has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for short-term leases with terms 
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on these assets are expensed to profit or loss as incurred. 

(f) Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets are initially carried at cost. Following the initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

Intangible assets are amortised over the useful life and assessed for impairment when there is an indication that the 
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite 
life are reviewed at least each financial year-end, and the amortisation expense is recognised in the profit and loss.  

 Software  5 years  

(g) Investment Property 

An investment property, comprising a strata office floor is held by IBL Ltd to generate long term rental yields.  The Group also 
has commercial tenants occupying parts of several properties that are otherwise used by the Company for its own activities.  
All tenant leases are negotiated and contracted on an arm’s length basis. The investment property is carried at fair value. Fair 
value approximates market value and is assessed annually by the directors and determined at least triennially by independent 
property valuers. Changes to fair value are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income. 

(h)  Financial Instruments 

(i) Recognition 
Financial instruments are initially measured at cost or fair value on trade date, which includes transaction costs when the 
related contractual rights or obligations exist. Subsequent to initial recognition these instruments are measured as set out 
below. 

(ii) Amortised cost and effective interest method 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(h) Financial Instruments (continued) 

(iii) Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (Debt FVTOCI) 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) include equity investments which the 
consolidated entity intends to hold for the foreseeable future and has irrevocably elected to classify them as such upon initial 
recognition. 

(iv) Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”) 
Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses 
recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss recognised 
in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “Net gain/(loss) arising 
on financial assets measured at FVTPL” line.  

(v) Financial liabilities 
Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, comprising original debt less principal payments and 
amortisation. 

(vi) Impairment of financial assets 
The Group recognises a provision for expected credit losses on financial assets which are measured at amortised cost. The 
measurement of the loss allowance depends upon the Group's assessment at the end of each reporting period as to whether 
the financial instrument's credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, based on reasonable and supportable 
information that is available, without undue cost or effort to obtain.  

Where there has not been a significant increase in exposure to credit risk since initial recognition, a 12-month expected credit 
loss allowance is estimated. This represents a portion of the asset's lifetime expected credit losses that is attributable to a 
default event that is possible within the next 12 months. Where a financial asset has become credit impaired or where it is 
determined that credit risk has increased significantly, the loss allowance is based on the asset's lifetime expected credit 
losses. The amount of expected credit loss recognised is measured on the basis of the probability weighted present value of 
anticipated cash shortfalls over the life of the instrument discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

In all other cases, the loss allowance is recognised in profit or loss. A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if 
objective evidence Indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that 
asset. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its 
carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
An impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated by reference to its fair value. 

(i) Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale 

Non-current assets and assets of disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continued use. They are measured at the lower of their carrying 
amount and fair value less costs of disposal. For non-current assets or assets of disposal groups to be classified as held for 
sale, they must be available for immediate sale in their present condition and their sale must be highly probable. 

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write down of the non-current assets and assets of disposal 
groups to fair value less costs of disposal. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs of disposal 
of a non-current assets and assets of disposal groups, but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously 
recognised. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(i) Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale (continued)  

Non-current assets are not depreciated or amortised while they are classified as held for sale. Interest and other expenses 
attributable to the liabilities of assets held for sale continue to be recognised. 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of disposal groups classified as held for sale are presented 
separately on the face of the statement of financial position, in current assets. The liabilities of disposal groups classified as 
held for sale are presented separately on the face of the statement of financial position, in current liabilities. 

(j) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 

All non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable.  

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use is the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset or cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped together to form a 
cash-generating unit. 

Recoverable amount not possible to estimate 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

(j) Trade and Other Payables  

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year and 
which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The amounts 
are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

Trade payables include broking creditors which are recorded as a liability at the date of inception of a policy.  In the event 
that the premium charged to clients is not paid, the liability to the corresponding broking creditor is extinguished under the 
provisions of the Financial Services Reform Act 2002. Broking creditors are settled either within 90 days following the month 
in which the premium is received or within 90 days of the inception of the policy depending on the terms of the underwriting 
agreement under which the policy is issued. 

(k) Contract liabilities   

Contract liabilities represent the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer and are recognised when a 
customer pays consideration, or when the Group recognises a receivable to reflect its unconditional right to consideration 
(whichever is earlier) before the company has transferred the goods or services to the customer.  

(l) Lease liabilities  

A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The lease liability is initially recognised at the present 
value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, 
if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments comprise of fixed 
payments less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected 
to be paid under residual value guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option when the exercise of the option is reasonably  
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(l) Lease liabilities (continued)  

certain to occur, and any anticipated termination penalties. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or 
a rate are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amounts are remeasured 
if there is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a change in an index or a rate used; residual 
guarantee; lease term; certainty of a purchase option and termination penalties. When a lease liability is remeasured, an 
adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of use asset, or to profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use 
asset is fully written down. 

(m) Employee Benefits 

Short-term benefits 
Short term employee benefits are defined as employee benefits that are expected to be settled wholly before twelve months 
after the end of the annual reporting period. 

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries, annual leave, long service leave, and any contracted bonuses represent 
present obligations resulting from employees’ services provided or achievements accomplished to reporting date and are 
calculated at discounted amounts (where relevant) based on remuneration wage and salary rates that the Group expects to 
pay as at reporting date including related on-costs, such as workers compensation insurance and payroll tax. 

Other long-term employee benefits 
The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that employees have 
earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods plus related on-costs; that benefit is discounted to 
determine its present value, and the fair value of any related assets is deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting 
date on Commonwealth Government bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations.  

Where contracted long-term employee benefits exist, a provision equal to the proportional value pertaining to the current 
year is made in anticipation of the long-term achievement. The value of the benefit is undiscounted in terms of present value 
since there is no significant difference over the time frame involved. 

(n) Income Taxes 

Income tax expense / income comprises current and deferred tax.  Income tax expense / income is recognised in profit or 
loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to be applied when 
the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted, 
except for: 

 When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability 
in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting nor taxable profits; or 

 When the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, and 
the timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(n) Income Taxes (continued) 

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.  Deferred tax assets relating to the future 
value of tax losses available to the Group have been booked in the current year because their realisation in future years is 
now virtually certain due to the expected financial performance of the Group. 

The income tax liability of the Group is determined by applying the mutuality concept, whereby the Group is not liable to pay 
tax on otherwise assessable income it has derived from membership fees and other transactions with its own members 
pursuant to its not for profit objectives in relation to those persons and their interests. 

Relevance of tax consolidation to the Group 

The company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities have formed a tax-consolidated group with effect from  
1 January 2004 and are therefore taxed as a single entity from that date. The head entity within the tax-consolidated group 
is The Royal Australian Institute of Architects Limited. Tax expense/income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets 
arising from temporary differences of the members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised in the separate financial 
statements of the members of the tax-consolidated group using the separate taxpayer within group approach by reference 
to the carrying amounts in the separate financial statements of each entity and the tax values applying under tax 
consolidation. Current tax liabilities and assets and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and relevant tax credits 
of the members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised by the Company (as head entity in the tax-consolidated group).  

Due to the existence of a tax funding arrangement between the entities in the tax-consolidated group, amounts are 
recognised as payable to or receivable by the Company and each member of the group in relation to the tax contribution 
amounts paid or payable between the parent entity and the other members of the tax-consolidated group in accordance 
with the arrangement. 

(o) Determination of Fair Values 

When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the fair 
value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the 
principal market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming 
they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its highest and 
best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 
measure fair value, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified into three levels, using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. Classifications are reviewed at each reporting date and transfers 
between levels are determined based on a reassessment of the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement. 

For recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, external valuers may be used when internal expertise is either not 
available or when the valuation is deemed to be significant. External valuers are selected based on market knowledge and 
reputation. Where there is a significant change in fair value of an asset or liability from one period to another, an analysis is 
undertaken, which includes a verification of the major inputs applied in the latest valuation and a comparison where 
applicable, with external sources of data. During December 2019, all of the Company’s properties were valued by 
independent valuer Charter Keck Cramer (CKC), to assist the Directors in determining the fair value of these assets for 
financial reporting purposes. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(p) Revenue and other income 

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows: 

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers 
Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled in exchange 
for transferring goods or services to a customer. For each contract with a customer, the Group: identifies the contract with 
a customer; identifies the performance obligations in the contract; determines the transaction price which takes into account 
estimates of variable consideration and the time value of money; allocates the transaction price to the separate performance 
obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service to be delivered; and recognises 
revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the transfer to the customer of the 
goods or services promised. 

Variable consideration within the transaction price, if any, reflects concessions provided to the customer such as discounts, 
rebates and refunds, any potential bonuses receivable from the customer and any other contingent events. Such estimates 
are determined using either the 'expected value' or 'most likely amount' method. The measurement of variable consideration 
is subject to a constraining principle whereby revenue will only be recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a 
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. The measurement constraint continues 
until the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Amounts received that are subject 
to the constraining principle are recognised as a refund liability. 

(ii) Provision of insurance & risk management services (IBL Limited) 
Commission is recognised in the month of receipt of the premium from the customer. Profit commissions on underwriting 
agreements are recognised when the right to receive the profit commission is established and when the amounts can be 
reliably measured. Provisional profit commissions on underwriting agreements are recognised at amounts estimated by 
independent actuarial assessment. 

(iii) Membership subscriptions 
Revenue from the membership subscriptions is recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the membership year or period 
at the reporting date. Subscription fees received prior to the commencement of the period to which they relate are carried 
forward in Statement of Financial Position as contract liabilities. 

(iv)  Dividend Income 
Dividend revenue is recognised on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is established. 

(v) Rental income 
Rental income from the investment property and surplus office space is recognised as income on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease.  

(vi) Interest income 
Interest income is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of 
revenue can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and 
at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.  

(vii) Other revenue 
Other revenue is recognised when the right to receive the revenue has been established.  
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(p) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues and expenses are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the costs of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the taxation authority is included as a current asset or liability in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. 

Cash flows are included in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are 
classified as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority.  

(q) Current and Non-Current Classification 

Assets and liabilities are presented in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position based on current and non-current 
classification. 

An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the Group's 
normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 12 months after the 
reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability 
for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the Group's normal operating cycle; it is held 
primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no 
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other liabilities 
are classified as non-current. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current. 

(r) Bequest Funds Held in Trust 

The Company holds Bequest Funds in trust for beneficiaries for whom the Company acts as a trustee. These funds are not to 
be used for the payment of any other debt or for any purpose other than a purpose for which the specific bequest allows.  

As at 31 December 2019 the total of such amounts held by the Company was $2,295,841 (2018: $2,293,809); which is not 
recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as the funds are held in trust. 

(s) Going Concern  

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal 
operations and the realisation of assets and discharge of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.  

As disclosed in the financial statements as at 31 December 2019, the Company incurred a loss before income tax of 
$559,360 for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018 recorded a loss before income tax of $58,628).  

Despite this financial result, the directors believe that it is reasonably foreseeable the Company will continue as a going 
concern and that is it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of the financial report after 
considering the following factors: 
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(s) Going Concern (continued) 

 As at year-end, the Company's current liabilities exceed current assets by $490,053. However, the Group's current 
assets exceed current liabilities by $10,795,593; 

 Included in the year-end balance of the Company's current assets is an amount of $3,150,000 for an asset held for 
sale. This is based on the assumption that the sale for the Merivale St, Brisbane property of $5,050,000 will settle 
successfully in September 2020; 

 Included in the year-end balance of the Company's current liabilities is an amount of $5,400,000 for a Loan Facility 
and $3,000,000 in Other Interest Bearing borrowings owed to a controlled entity which both have repayment dates 
during the 12 months subsequent to 31 December 2019. Management have renegotiated the repayment terms to 
March 2021 and May 2021 respectively; and   

 The Company has prepared budgets and cashflow forecasts for the next 12 months from the date of this report 
which indicate the Company will be cashflow positive during this period and the directors are confident that these 
forecasts can be achieved.  

2019 2018 2019 2018

$ $ $ $

4.(a) Revenue 

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from services 22,726,463 21,562,719 10,864,111 11,626,048

 - Membership Fee Income 6,616,862 6,771,094

 - Corporate Partnerships (Sponsorship) 2,375,740 2,798,416

 - Events Ticket Sales 1,772,174 1,535,046

 - Other Revenue from Services 99,335 521,492

Subscriptions and licensing income 1,204,577 1,507,644 1,264,577 1,567,644

Revenue from sale of goods 445,589 456,292 445,589 456,292

Rental revenue 543,839 514,889 375,754 358,722

Interest income 243,220 196,590 41,543 37,514

Dividend income 647,938 1,270,826 1,500,201 2,100,191

Other revenue 557,253 77,861 65,286 -

Total Revenue 26,368,879 25,586,821 14,557,061 16,146,411

4.(b) Other gains and losses

Gain/(loss) arising on investments in listed securities 535,307 (158,389) - -

Gain on investment in unlisted investments 1,700,000 - - -

2,235,307 (158,389) - -

Gain on revaluation of investment property 900,000 - - -

900,000 - - -

Consolidated Parent
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2019 2018 2019 2018

$ $ $ $

5 Profit /  (Loss) for the Year

Other rental expenses 31,457 111,688 31,457 111,688

Depreciation charge for the right of use asset 230,238 - 98,525 -

Depreciation charge for property, plant and 

equipment 791,119 799,612 665,509 677,723

Interest expense on the lease liability 89,372 - 74,605 -

Other interest and finance charges paid / payable 80,707 159,952 200,707 279,952

Superannuation expense 1,033,852 952,279 611,270 557,656

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2,233 4,536 - -

6 Income Tax

(a)

Current tax 572,742 - (1,085,159) (1,190,955)

Movement in deferred tax 1,058,605 214,584 345,050 342,677

Income tax expense/(benefit) 1,631,347 214,584 (740,109) (848,278)

(b)

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense 7,480,926 2,382,397 (559,360) (58,628)

Income tax using the Group's domestic tax rate 

of 27.5% (2018-30%) 2,057,255 714,719 (153,824) (17,588)

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible 

(taxable) in calculating taxable income

Mutual income and expenses (174,360) (229,020) (174,360) (229,020)

Deductions allowable for tax purposes - (1,209) - -

Non-deductible expenses 59,170 86,290 (274,425) (345,670)

Non-assessable income (982) (2,701) - -

Under / (over) provided in prior years (143,348) (65,311) - -

Effect of change in tax rate - 30,968 - 36,071

Tax credits and offsets applied (166,388) (319,152) (137,500) (292,071)

Income tax expense/(benefit) attributable to 

entity 1,631,347 214,584 (740,109) (848,278)

The applicable weighted average effective tax 

rates are: 21.81% 9.01% n/a n/a

(c)
Net deferred tax debited to equity 707,166 (113,445) 707,166 (113,445)

Income tax recognised directly in equity:

Income tax recognised in profit or loss:

The prima facie tax on profit from ordinary activities before income tax is reconciled to the income tax 

expense as follows:

Profit /  (Loss) before tax for the year is derived after the following:

Consolidated Parent
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2019
2018

Restated
2019 2018

$ $ $ $

7 Auditors' Remuneration

Auditors of the parent entity

  -  Auditing the financial report 41,820 41,000 41,820 41,000

  -  Other services 4,080 4,000 4,080 4,000

  -  Other non-audit services 14,760 - 14,760 -

60,660 45,000 60,660 45,000

Auditors of the controlled entities

  -  Auditing the financial report 49,700 47,000 - -

  -  Other non-audit services 17,800 5,000 - -

67,500 52,000 - -

8 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents 19,186,068 20,586,831 2,041,466 3,858,307

The above figures are reconciled to cash at the 

end of the financial year as shown in the 

statement of cash flows as follows:

Cash at bank and cash on hand 7,959,961 9,604,710 2,041,466 2,858,307

Short term deposits with financial institutions (a) 7,297,754 4,315,635 - 1,000,000

Cash balances held in the insurance broking 

accounts (b) 3,928,353 6,666,486 - -

19,186,068 20,586,831 2,041,466 3,858,307

(b) Insurance broking accounts are restricted funds which are passed to the underwriters.

9 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables 737,813 656,228 695,429 692,228

Less: Provision for expected credit loss - (15,000) - (15,000)

737,813 641,228 695,429 677,228

Receivable from Subsidiary - - 1,541,841 1,126,017

737,813 641,228 2,237,270 1,803,245

10

Prepayments 851,044 618,310 558,961 422,926

Other assets

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 day terms. Carrying value approximates fair value due to the 

short-term nature of the receivables. A provision for impairment of receivables is made when there is objective evidence that a 

trade receivable is impaired. No expense has been recognised for the current year for specific debtors for which such evidence 

exists.

Consolidated Parent

(a) The effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits for the Parent was 2.06% (2018: 2.43%) and for the Subsidiary was 

1.63% (2018: 2.40%). These deposits have an average maturity of 180 days (2018: 90 days).
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2019 2018 2019 2018

$ $ $ $

11 Other financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:

Huatai Insurance Agency and Consultant Service Ltd (a)

Investments, at fair value 2,511,356 811,358 - -

2,511,356 811,358 - -

Listed investments, at fair value 356,846 - - -

Managed Investment Portfolio, at fair value 4,376,388 3,431,386 - -

4,733,234 3,431,386 - -

7,244,590 4,242,744 - -

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income:

Investments in subsidiaries and associates, at 

cost (b) 52 52 330,052 330,052

Other investments (b) 6,657 5,115 6,657 5,115

6,709 5,167 336,709 335,167

Amortised cost and effective interest method:

Term deposits with financial institutions (c) 2,500,000 - 2,500,000 -

2,500,000 - 2,500,000 -

9,751,299 4,247,911 2,836,709 335,167

CURRENT 2,500,000 - 2,500,000 -

NON-CURRENT 7,251,299 4,247,911 336,709 335,167

9,751,299 4,247,911 2,836,709 335,167

ParentConsolidated

(a) Based on AASB 9, the investment in Huatai is measured at fair value. Huatai Insurance Agency and Consultant 

Service Ltd is an unlisted Company based in China.  Principal activities are insurance broking, loss adjusting and Lloyds 

marine agent. The Chinese business and regulatory environment differs significantly from the operations of the 

Australian market making direct comparison difficult.  

In December 2019 an offer was received from potential buyer and subsequent to year end an agreement for the 

transfer of equity was entered into. The transaction is expected to be settled in the first half of 2020. We have used the 

sale price as an observable market input in determining the fair value of the investment. 

(b) Non-current other investments are in the ordinary issued capital of various entities.  There are no fixed returns or 

fixed maturity date attached to these investments. Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted 

market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost (and assessed 

annually for impairment) in the absence of reliable fair value information.  

(c) The effective interest rate on term deposits with financial institutions for the Parent was 2.06% (2018: 2.43%). 

These deposits have an average maturity of greater than 180 days.
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2019 2018 2019 2018

$ $ $ $

12

Assets held for sale 3,150,000 - 3,150,000 -

13 Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method

665,067 809,707 - -Associated companies

Non-current asset held for sale

Consolidated Parent

In 2019, the Company’s Directors made a decision to sell the Company’s freehold property located at 70 Merivale 

Street, South Brisbane, Queensland, as the premises were no longer fit for purpose. Following a rigorous sales process, 

a contract of sale was signed on 28 February 2020, with a sale price of $5,050,000 (excluding GST) and a settlement 

date 6 months after the contract date.    

During December 2019, all of the Company’s properties were valued by independent valuer Charter Keck Cramer 

(CKC), to assist the Directors in determining the fair value of these assets for financial reporting purposes. The CKC 

valuation valued the 70 Merivale St property at $3,150,000 after applying the direct sales comparison and income 

capitalisation valuation approaches.  Accordingly, within the Company’s Statement of Financial Position as at 31 

December 2019, the 70 Merivale Street property has been classified under AASB 5 as an ‘asset held for sale’ valued at 

$3,150,000. As the sales proceeds exceeded the carrying value of the property, a gain on the sale of this property will 

be recorded in 2020 financial statements.  

Interests are held in the following associated companies:

Name

Principal 

Activities

Country of 

Incorporation Report Date Ownership Interest

2019 2018

Direct Interest

Unlisted:

Architecture Media Pty Ltd (a)  Publishing  Australia 30/06/2019 50% 50%

Name

2019 2018 2019 2018

$ $ $ $

Direct Interest

Unlisted:

Architecture Media Pty Ltd (a) 665,067 809,707 - -

665,067 809,707 - -

2019 2018

$ $

Balance at beginning of the financial year 809,707 1,181,382

Share of profits after income tax 355,360 728,326

Dividends received/receivable (500,000) (1,100,000)

Disposal of Architecture Media Holdings Pty Ltd - (1)

Balance at end of the financial year 665,067 809,707

Consolidated Parent

Carrying Amount of 

Investment

Consolidated

Carrying Amount of 

Investment
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13 Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method (continued)

Movements in Equity Accounted Investments in Associated Companies

(a) Control of Architecture Media Pty Ltd (AM) was not achieved in the 31 December 2019 year. In the current year, the Company 

equity accounted for their investment in Architecture Media Pty Ltd based on audited results for the 6 month period to 30 June 

2019 and unaudited results for the 6 month period to 31 December 2019. The company does not believe that the use of 

unaudited information has led to a material misstatement in the financial report for either year.

2019 2018 2019 2018

$ $ $ $

14 Property, Plant and Equipment

Freehold Land and Buildings

At valuation 22,992,548 22,127,548 20,700,000 19,835,000

Accumulated depreciation (122,765) (422,669) - (361,173)

22,869,783 21,704,879 20,700,000 19,473,827

Leasehold Land and Buildings

At valuation 7,800,000 7,350,000 7,800,000 7,350,000

Accumulated depreciation - (104,294) - (104,294)

7,800,000 7,245,706 7,800,000 7,245,706

Plant, equipment, furniture and fittings 

& leasehold improvements

At cost 3,131,895 4,152,188 2,549,553 3,405,157

Accumulated depreciation (1,878,667) (2,875,430) (1,765,331) (2,622,140)
1,253,228 1,276,758 784,222 783,017

Capital Works in Progress

At cost 9,168 153,448 9,168 153,448

Total Property, Plant and Equipment

At cost 3,141,063 4,305,636 2,558,721 3,558,605

At valuation 30,792,548 29,477,548 28,500,000 27,185,000

Accumulated depreciation (2,001,432) (3,402,393) (1,765,331) (3,087,607)

31,932,179 30,380,791 29,293,390 27,655,998

Consolidated Parent
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14    Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 
Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year 

Freehold Land 
and Bui ldings

Leasehold 
Land and 

Bui ldings

Plant, 
equipment, 

furniture and 
fi ttings & 
leasehold 

improvements

Capita l  
works in 

progress

Total Freehold Land 
and Bui ldings

Leasehold 
Land and 

Bui ldings

Plant, 
equipment, 

furniture and 
fi ttings & 
leasehold 

improvements

Capita l  
works in 

progress

Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 January 2018

Opening balance             22,127,548            7,350,000 1,488,856 56,000 31,022,404 19,835,000 7,350,000 944,549 56,000 28,185,549

Add: Additions                              -                          - 65,931 97,448 163,379 - - 61,320 97,448 158,768

Add: Write back of accumulated depreciation                              -                          - 
14,925 - 14,925 - - 14,925 - 14,925

Less: Disposals / impairment                              -                          - (30,268) - (30,268) - - (25,730) - (25,730)

Less: Depreciation expense                (422,669)             (104,294) (262,686) - (789,649) (361,173) (104,294) (212,047) - (677,514)

Balance at 31 December 2018 21,704,879 7,245,706 1,276,758 153,448 30,380,791 19,473,827 7,245,706 783,017 153,448 27,655,998

Opening balance             21,704,879            7,245,706              1,276,758 153,448             30,380,791             19,473,827            7,245,706                   783,017 153,448             27,655,998 

Add: Additions                            -                          -   116,602 9,168 125,770 - - 85,901 9,168 95,069

Add: Fair value revaluation gains (a)               4,634,888               610,650 - - 5,245,538 4,634,888 610,650 - - 5,245,538

Transfers                            -                          -   153,448 (153,448) - - - 153,448 (153,448) -

Less: Disposals / impairment                            -                          -   (2,415) - (2,415) - - - - -

Less: Reclassify to Asset Held for Sale             (3,150,000)                        -   - - (3,150,000) (3,150,000) - - - (3,150,000)

Less: Depreciation expense                (319,984)               (56,356)               (291,165) - (667,505) (258,715) (56,356) (238,144) - (553,215)

Balance at 31 December 2019 22,869,783 7,800,000 1,253,228 9,168 31,932,179 20,700,000 7,800,000 784,222 9,168 29,293,390

Consol idated Parent

(a) During December 2019, all of the Company’s properties were valued by independent valuer Charter Keck Cramer (CKC), to assist the Directors in determining the fair value of 

these assets for financial reporting purposes. 
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2019 2018 2019 2018

$ $ $ $

15 Right of use assets

Right of use assets

At cost 2,477,576 - 1,841,871 -

Accumulated depreciation (649,136) - (255,663) -

1,828,440 - 1,586,208 -

16 Investment Property

Balance at 1 January 2,800,000 2,800,000 - -

Revaluation 900,000 - - -

Balance at 31 December 3,700,000 2,800,000 - -

17 Intangible Assets

Software

At cost 1,681,403 1,435,702 1,509,161 1,263,460

Accumulated amortisation (1,255,648) (1,132,034) (1,086,856) (974,562)

425,755 303,668 422,305 288,898

Capital Work in Progress

At cost 215,457 - 215,457 -

Total Intangible Assets

At cost 1,896,860 1,435,702 1,724,618 1,263,460

Accumulated depreciation (1,255,648) (1,132,034) (1,086,856) (974,562)

641,212 303,668 637,762 288,898

Software

Opening balance 303,668 24,730 288,898 208

Add: Additions 461,158 288,898 461,158 288,898

Less: Amortisation expense (123,614)               (9,960)         (112,294) (208)

Closing balance 641,212 303,668 637,762 288,898

18 Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

Net deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liability comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Fair value gain adjustments 2,822,471 1,686,237 1,955,049 1,247,883

Investment property 467,500 240,000 - -

Right of use asset 163,800 - 163,800 -

Other 19,171 13,883 9,965 -

Total 3,472,942 1,940,120 2,128,814 1,247,883

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of intangible assets at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year.

ParentConsolidated
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2019 2018 2019 2018
$ $ $ $

18 Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities (continued)

Net deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Fair value gain adjustment 2,538 - -

Property, Plant & Equipment 15,037 15,037 - -

Provisions & Accruals 389,548 428,318 56,361 90,447

Change in value of investments - 59,519 - -

Tax losses recognised - 306,330 - 306,330

Lease liability 190,778 - 190,778 -

Total 597,901 809,204 247,139 396,777

Gross Movements

Net deferred tax asset and liability

The overall movement in the deferred tax account is as follows:

Opening balance at 1 January (1,130,916) (1,029,777) (851,107) (621,874)

Impact of adoption of AASB 16 (369,594) - (369,594) -

Credited/(charged) to the income statement (1,058,606) (214,583) (345,052) (342,677)

Credited/(charged) to equity (707,166) 113,444 (707,166) 113,444

Closing balance at 31 December (3,266,282) (1,130,916) (2,272,919) (851,107)

-

Deferred Tax Liabilities

The movement in deferred tax liabilities for each temporary difference during the year is as follows:

Fair value gain adjustments

Opening balance at 1 January 1,706,237 1,969,359 1,247,883 1,361,327

Credited/(charged) to the income statement 409,068 - - -

Credited/(charged) to equity 707,166 (263,122) 707,166 (113,444)

Closing balance at 31 December 2,822,471 1,706,237 1,955,049 1,247,883

Investment Property

Opening balance at 1 January 220,000 240,000 - -

Credited/(charged) to the income statement 247,500 (20,000) - -

Credited/(charged) to equity - - - -

Closing balance at 31 December 467,500 220,000 - -

Right-of-use asset

Opening balance at 1 January - - - -

Impact of adoption of AASB 16 173,974 - 173,974

Opening balance at 1 January - Restated 173,974 - 173,974 -

Credited/(charged) to the income statement (10,174) - (10,174) -

Credited/(charged) to equity - - - -

Closing balance at 31 December 163,800 - 163,800 -

Other

Opening balance at 1 January 13,883 27,703 - -

Credited/(charged) to the income statement 5,288 (13,820) 9,965 -

Credited/(charged) to equity - - - -

Closing balance at 31 December 19,171 13,883 9,965 -

Total Deferred Tax Liabilities 3,472,942 1,940,120 2,128,814 1,247,883

Consolidated Parent
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2019 2018 2019 2018

$ $ $ $

18 Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities (continued)

Deferred Tax Assets

The movement in deferred tax assets for each temporary difference during the year is as follows:

Fair value gain adjustment

Opening balance at 1 January - - - -

Credited/(charged) to the income statement 2,538 - - -

Credited/(charged) to equity - - - -

Closing balance at 31 December 2,538 - - -

Plant and Equipment

Opening balance at 1 January 15,037 16,403 - -

Credited/(charged) to the income statement - (1,366) - -

Credited/(charged) to equity - - - -

Closing balance at 31 December 15,037 15,037 - -

Provisions and Accruals

Opening balance at 1 January 428,318 446,674 90,447 79,264

Credited/(charged) to the income statement (38,770) (18,356) (34,086) 11,183

Credited/(charged) to equity - - - -

Closing balance at 31 December 389,548 428,318 56,361 90,447

Change in value of investments

Opening balance at 1 January 59,519 64,930 - -

Credited/(charged) to the income statement (59,519) (5,411) - -

Credited/(charged) to equity - - - -

Closing balance at 31 December - 59,519 - -

Tax losses recognised

Opening balance at 1 January 306,330 660,190 306,330 660,190

Credited/(charged) to the income statement (306,330) (353,860) (306,330) (353,860)

Credited/(charged) to equity - - - -

Closing balance at 31 December - 306,330 - 306,330

Lease liability

Opening balance at 1 January - - - -

Impact of adoption of AASB 16 195,620 - 195,620 -

Opening balance at 1 January - Restated 195,620 - 195,620 -

Credited/(charged) to the income statement (4,842) - (4,842) -

Credited/(charged) to equity - - - -

Closing balance at 31 December 190,778 - 190,778 -

Other

Opening balance at 1 January - 19,090 - -

Credited/(charged) to the income statement - (19,090) - -

Credited/(charged) to equity - - - -

Closing balance at 31 December - - - -

Total Deferred Tax Assets 597,901 809,204 247,139 396,777

Consolidated Parent
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Note 2019
2018

Restated
2019 2018

$ $ $ $

19 Trade and Other Payables

CURRENT

Unsecured liabilities

Trade and sundry creditors 4,111,953 6,836,356 330,752 397,413

Accrued expenses 792,448 983,439 117,845 481,906

Revenue in advance - Membership Fees 2 - 295,413 - 295,413

Revenue in advance - Other 2 - 130,614 - 130,614

Make good provision - 2,976 - 2,976

4,904,401 8,248,798 448,597 1,308,322

20 Contract liabilities

CURRENT

Revenue in advance - Membership Fees 2 219,774 - 219,774 -

Revenue in advance - Other 2 862,610 - 862,610 -

1,082,384 - 1,082,384 -

21 Lease Liabilities

CURRENT

Lease liabilities 182,009 - 52,859 -

NON-CURRENT

Lease liabilities 1,958,854 - 1,820,310 -

2,140, 863 - 1,873,169 -

22 Provisions

CURRENT

Employee benefits 1,500, 241 1,720,602 421,168 572,350

NON-CURRENT

Employee benefits 342,546 225,414 95,003 33,724

1,946,016 516,171 606,074

23 Other Liabilities

CURRENT

Deferred underwriting profit commission 1,987,554 2,059,170 - -

1,987,554 2,059,170 - -

The average credit period on purchases of goods and services is between 30 and 90 days. No interest is charged on trade 

payables outstanding. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that payables are paid within the 

credit timeframe.

Consolidated Parent

  1,842,787 

The provision for employee benefits classified as 'current' includes accrued annual leave and long service leave. For long service 

leave it covers all unconditional entitlements where employees have completed the required period of service and also those 

where employees are entitled to pro-rata payments in certain circumstances, including termination of employment. However, 

based on past experience, the Group does not expect all employees to take the full amount of accrued long service leave or 

require payment within the next 12 months.
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2019 2018 2019 2018

$ $ $ $

24 Loan and Borrowings

At amortised cost

Other interest bearing borrowings owed to a controlled entity                    -                         -          3,000,000        3,000,000 

Loan facility - secured       5,400,000 5,400,000        5,400,000        5,400,000 

Total interest bearing borrowings       5,400,000 5,400,000        8,400,000        8,400,000 

CURRENT       5,400,000                      -          8,400,000        3,000,000 

NON-CURRENT                    -           5,400,000                     -           5,400,000 

      5,400,000 5,400,000 8,400,000 8,400,000

Terms and Conditions

Terms and Conditions of outstanding loans were as follows:

Currency Nominal 

interest 

rate

Year of 

Maturity

Loan facility - secured AUD 1.26% 2020 5,400,000 5,400,000 5,400,000 5,400,000

Other interest bearing borrowings owed to a controlled entity AUD 4.00% 2020 - - 3,000,000 3,000,000

5,400,000 5,400,000 8,400,000 8,400,000

First Mortgage

Land and buildings 24,500,000 20,285,500 24,500,000 20,285,500

Total non-current assets pledged as security 24,500,000 20,285,500 24,500,000 20,285,500

(b) Land and buildings includes freehold and leasehold properties.

Consolidated Parent

(a) The Loan Facility, Overdraft Facility, Electronic Payaway Facility and Commercial Card Facility are secured by mortgages over the 41 Exhibition Street, Melbourne, Hughes Street, 

Potts Point, and Manning Street, Potts Point properties. 
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2019 2018 2019 2018

$ $ $ $

25 Reserves

The amounts and movements in reserves are included in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

(a) General Reserve

The general reserve funds are set aside for the future expansion of the IBL Limited business.

(b) Financial Asset Reserve

(c) Asset Revaluation Reserve

26 Lease Commitments

Leases as lessor

Payable - minimum lease payments

 - no later than 12 months 423,140 486,297 274,019 343,072

 - between 12 months and 5 years 583,088 949,580 519,916 737,295

 - greater than 5 years - - - -
Minimum lease payments receivable 1,006,228 1,435,877 793,935 1,080,367

27

Contingent Liabilities

Contingent Asset

As at 31 December 2018, the Company was involved in a legal dispute in which damages against the Company have been 

claimed. The information usually required by AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets was not 

disclosed in the 2018 financial statements on the grounds that it was expected to prejudice the outcome of the matter. This 

claim was settled in July 2019. The Company’s Directors and Officers Liability insurance policy responded to this claim.

The company had no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2019

Consolidated

The financial assets reserve recorded revaluations of financial assets. Where a revalued financial asset was sold, that portion 

of the reserve which related to that financial asset and was effectively realised, was recognised in profit or loss. Where a 

revalued financial asset was impaired, that portion of the reserve which related to that financial asset was recognised in 

profit or loss. 

The Asset Revaluation Reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets, as 

described in note 3(d).  Deferred tax has been provided for on the net increment resulting from the revaluation and takes 

into the consideration the individual tax position of each non-current asset.

Parent

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Under agreements with its underwriters, IBL is entitled to receive a profit commission based on the ultimate profitability of 

the portfolio of insurance policies which it manages. As such, the amount of profit commission receivable as a result of 

policies already written under agreement is contingent upon the amount of future claims under those policies up until the 

time that the final profit commission calculation is made and becomes ultimately due and payable by the underwriter. 

However IBL Limited will recognise interim profit commissions based on achieving an acceptable probability of sufficiency as 

calculated with the assistance of a professional actuarial consultant.  

The group leases out its investment properties and surplus office space. Lease rentals are receivable as follows:



THE ROYAL AUSTRALIAN INSTITUTE OF ARCHITECTS LIMITED and CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

ACN: 000 023 012 

Notes to the Financial Statement for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 

41

28 Related Party Transactions

(a) Identification of related parties

(i) Wholly owned group

Information relating to controlled entities is set out in Note 30.

(ii) Directors and Management personnel

(b) Transactions with key management personnel, councillors or directors

2019 2018 2019 2018

Type of transaction $ $ $ $

20,000 22,000 - -

2,000 - - -

31,976 - - -

Payment to IBL Limited for transactions below:

Insurance Premiums -                          -   165,953 186,810

Subsidiary fees -                          -   11,856 33,801

Interest on commercial loan -                          -   120,000 120,000

Reimbursement of expenses/provision of services -                          -   - 416

Receipt from IBL Limited for transactions below:

Income tax contribution paid -                          -   1,340,414 1,242,668

Dividends received -                          -   1,000,000 1,000,000

Agency Fees -                          -   60,000 60,000

Payment to Architecture Media Pty Ltd for transactions below:

Reimbursement of expenses/provision of services - 687 - 687

Receipt from Architecture Media Pty Ltd for transactions below:

Dividends received 500,000 1,100,000 500,000 1,100,000

Rent received 10,054 9,343 10,054 9,343

Payment to Australian Institute of Architects Foundation for transactions below:

Reimbursement of expenses/provision of services 6,028 - 6,028                        -   

The consolidated entity has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries (see note 30), associates (see note 13), 

remuneration to key management personnel (refer note 29), and the Australian Institute of Architects Foundation.

(c) Transaction with related parties

Payment for consulting fees to Terry Ibbotson

Payment for consulting fees to Grant Thornton (Eric W 

Passaris)

Legal consultation fees to Thynne & Macartney Solicitors 

& Notaries (John R Moore)

The following transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more  favourable than 

those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.

Consolidated Parent

During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring current councillors and directors and 

officers of the Company against certain liabilities.  The Company has not included details of the nature of the liabilities covered 

or the amount of the premium paid in respect of the Directors and Officers Liability Insurance contract as such disclosures are 

prohibited under the terms of the contract.  The insurance policies outlined above do not contain details of the premiums paid 

in respect of individual councillors, directors and officers of the Company.
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2019 2018 2019 2018

$ $ $ $

28 Related Party Transactions (continued)

Loan receivable from Australian Institute 

of Architects Foundation 
         47,328 95,241          47,328 95,241

Loan payable to IBL Limited                  -                           -   3,000,000 3,000,000

Dividend receivable from IBL Limited                  -                           -          500,000            500,000 

Receivable from IBL Limited                  -                           -   1,041,841 626,017

Receivable from Architecture Media Pty Ltd               829                      805               829                    805 

Payable to IBL Limited                  -                           -              6,000              36,000 

29

RAIA IBL Limited 

J R Moore

S G Purser (Managing Director)

E W Passaris

P J R Nash

T W Ibbotson

K J Maher

B J Whitmore - appointed 21 June 2019

G M Collins - resigned 14 May 2019

J Cambage (Chief Executive Officer) - appointed 4 February 2019

J Slocombe (Interim Chief Executive Officer) - resigned 8 February 2019 

B J Whitmore (Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary) - appointed 19 January 2019

M McDonald (Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary) - resigned 19 January 2019

Compensation

Aggregate compensation 1,519,711 1,757,844 640,528 836,790

G M Collins (Independent Director) - resigned 14 May 

2019

J J Hill - resigned 14 May 2019

R L Kirk - resigned 14 May 2019 

G M Overell (Independent Director)

C Cousins

A Gillon (Independent Director) - from 28 May 2019 to 23 

October 2019 

A L T M Hampson - appointed 14 May 2019

P A C Hobbs – appointed 14 May 2019

J R Crawford (Independent Director) - appointed 24 

October 2019

The following were key management personnel of the Group at any time during the reporting period, and unless otherwise 

indicated were key management personnel for the entire period.

A V Broffman (Independent Director)

Consolidated Parent

(d) Loans to/from related parties

(e) Receivable from and payable to related parties

Key management personnel disclosures

In accordance with the Constitution of The Royal Australian Institute of Architects Limited, National Council has resolved to pay 

Directors’ fees to Independent Directors only.

The aggregate compensation made to Independent Directors and other members of key management personnel of the company 

is set out below:

H M Lochhead - appointed as President 14 May 2019

V Bird
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30 Subsidiaries

2019 2018

Name of entity

IBL Limited Ordinary Australia 100% 100%

31 Subsequent Events

 Class of 

Shares 

 Country of 

Incorporation 

Equity holding

IBL Sale of Other Financial Assets 

On 17 January 2020 IBL entered into an equity transfer agreement to sell the Company's 12.5% shareholding in Huatai 

Insurance Agency and Consultant Service Ltd. The fair value of the investment as disclosed in the financial statements reflects 

the agreed price for the share sale.

IBL Dividend

Each year the Company receives dividend payments from its 100% owned subsidiary IBL Limited (IBL) as a share of profits 

earned by IBL. Thus far IBL has declared, in accordance with the current dividend agreement between the two entities, a 

total of $2,300,000 of dividends payable to the Institute related to IBL’s 2019 profit after tax.

An initial interim dividend of $1,000,000 was declared in December 2019, and this amount has been included in the 2019 

financial results of the Company. An additional $1,300,000 interim dividend was declared by IBL on 28 February 2020. Whilst 

this amount related to IBL’s 2019 profit after tax, AASB 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ requires that this $1,300,000 dividend is 

reported as revenue in the Company’s 2020 financial year, as it was declared in 2020. For the purposes of the Company’s 

internal financial management, this amount of $1,300,000, as well as the above mentioned $1,000,000, have been recognised 

as 2019 revenue as the amounts emanate from IBL’s 2019 financial result. 

Queensland property sale

In 2019, the Company’s Directors made a decision to sell the Company’s freehold property located at 70 Merivale Street, 

South Brisbane, Queensland, as the premises were no longer fit for purpose. Following a rigorous sales process, a contract of 

sale was signed on 28 February 2020, with a sale price of $5,050,000 (excluding GST) and a settlement date 6 months after 

the contract date.    

During December 2019, all of the Company’s properties were valued by independent valuer Charter Keck Cramer (CKC), to 

assist the Directors in determining the fair value of these assets for financial reporting purposes. The CKC valuation valued the 

70 Merivale St property at $3,150,000 after applying the direct sales comparison and income capitalisation valuation 

approaches.  Accordingly, within the Company’s Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2019, the 70 Merivale 

Street property has been classified under AASB 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations as an ‘asset 

held for sale’ valued at $3,150,000. As the sales proceeds exceeded the carrying value of the property, a gain on the sale of 

this property will be recorded in 2020 financial statements.  

Coronavirus

On 20 January 2020, the Chinese Government announced an outbreak of novel coronavirus (COVID-19) in the city of Wuhan 

in Hubei Province. The outbreak was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization on 11 March 2020 and all states 

and territories in Australia declared states of emergency soon after. 

The travel restrictions and restriction on large public non-essential gathering put in place by the Australian Government 

immediately after the declaration of an outbreak impacted the ability of the Company to run events already organised for its 

Members and the planning of future events.

Financial markets are currently experiencing dramatic negative movements. Financial assets held by the Group may suffer a 

material negative impact depending on the duration of current market conditions.
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31 Subsequent Events (continued)

32 Company Details

(a) Registered Office

The registered office of the Company is:

Level 1

41 Exhibition St

Melbourne VIC 3000

(b) Principal Places of business

The principal places of business are:

Level 1

41 Exhibition St

Melbourne VIC 3000

Internally the Group is focused on mitigating the potential reduction in income by minimising spend on activities not directly 

aligned with our principal activities. Due to the uncertainty surrounding the extent and duration of the economic impact on 

the broader economy and our key stakeholders including the Company’s Members, how long travel and other restrictions will 

remain in place, the on-going impact on financial markets and the effectiveness of mitigation plans, as at the date of this 

report an accurate estimate of the impact on the 2020 financial results cannot be made.

Despite the negative impacts of the COVID-19 crisis, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the 

Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly they continue to 

adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial report.

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2019 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect 

the company’s operations, the result of those operations, or the company’s state of affairs in future financial years.



45 

 
 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
To the Members of The Royal Australian Institute of Architects Limited 
 
Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of The Royal Australian Institute of Architects Ltd (the Company) and its 
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 
2019, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors' declaration.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including:  

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 31 December 2019 and of its 
financial performance for the year then ended; and  

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the 
Corporations Regulations 2001.  

 
Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of 
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's 
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
 
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to 
the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor's 
report. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
 
Emphasis of Matter  

We draw attention to Note 31 to the financial statements which describes the effects on the operations of the 
Company of the COVID-19 virus and the actions taken by governments and others to contain its spread. Our 
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.  
 
Other Information  

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the Group's annual report for the year ended 31 December 2019, but does not include the financial report and 
the auditor's report thereon.  
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Other Information (Continued) 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
 
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the 
Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf. This 
description forms part of our auditor's report.  
 

 
 
RSM AUSTRALIA PARTNERS 
 

 
 
R B MIANO 
Partner 
 
 
Dated: 28 May 2020 
Melbourne, Victoria 
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